JAN 22 2018

JAN 22 2018

WASHING COURT

WASHING COURT

WA

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT NO.

95416-0

Court of Appeals No. 75541-2-I

CHAN HEALTHCARE GROUP, PS, a Washington professional services corporation,

Plaintiff/Appellant

v.

LIBERTY MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY and LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, foreign insurance companies,

Defendants/Respondents

PETITION FOR REVIEW

David E. Breskin, WSBA No. 10607 Cynthia J. Heidelberg, WSBA No. 44121 BRESKIN JOHNSON & TOWNSEND PLLC 1000 Second Avenue, Suite 3670 Seattle, Washington 98104 Phone: (206) 652-8660

Fax: (206) 652-8290

Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellant

I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioners are Plaintiff Chan Healthcare Group ("Chan") and a certified class of Washington healthcare providers who submitted reasonable medical expense bills to Respondent Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. ("Liberty") for payment under the Personal Injury Protection ("PIP") coverage in a Liberty auto policy.

Liberty defended the action, in pertinent part asserting that the release of claims in a prior nationwide settlement entered in an Illinois state court barred Plaintiff Chan's action and was entitled to "full faith and credit." The trial court, the Honorable Catherine Shaffer, granted Chan a declaratory judgment that the release of claims was not entitled to "full faith and credit" because of conflicts between Illinois and Washington law and because the Illinois plaintiff did not and could not adequately represent Washington providers consistent with federal due process.²

Judge Shaffer held that Supreme Court due process precedent required the establishment of subclasses in the nationwide settlement to ensure adequate representation of Washington citizens. *Id.* at 202.

¹ The PIP statute requires that the insurer make "payments of all reasonable" and necessary medical expenses. RCW 48.22 et seq. Liberty used a computer to automatically deny full payment without any consideration or determination that the bill submitted was unreasonable. Petitioners brought suit against Liberty for failing to pay their reasonable bills as required by the PIP statute and engaging in an unfair practice under Washington Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86 et seq.

² See June 24, 2016 Report of Proceedings (RP) at 186-201.

Liberty sought discretionary review which was granted based on the Commissioner's decision that "the scope of collateral review of a multistate class settlement under due process appears to be an open question" and "the trial court's decision granting declaratory judgment involves a significant question of law that affects other Lebanon class members in Washington who did not opt out." ³ The Commissioner made no findings under RAP 2.3 that would permit review.

On review, the Court of Appeals reversed. It held that the Illinois settlement was entitled to "full faith and credit." It did not address Judge Shaffer's analysis or finding that subclasses were required by Supreme Court precedent and had not been established by the Illinois trial court.

This Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals'

December 11, 2017 opinion reversing Judge Shaffer's judgment because:

- (1) In granting review, the Commissioner announced a new rule of law for granting discretionary review that would convert discretionary review from an extraordinary procedure in the middle of a case to the ordinary process whenever there is an "open question" and "significant question of law" that may affect Washington citizens beyond the plaintiff;
- (2) The Court of Appeals answered the "open" question by adopting the incorrect legal standard for due process review of a foreign state class

³ Ruling on Mot. for Discretionary Review at 4-5.

action settlement that does not consider the nature of the findings made by the foreign state's court relevant to ensuring due process was afforded Washington citizens;

- (3) The Court of Appeals erred in finding, contrary to Judge Shaffer, that due process was met *by inferring* that the Illinois court found that the Illinois plaintiff was an adequate representative of Washington citizens when the Illinois trial court made no such finding in approving the settlement, but instead made a blanket and rote statement of adequacy; and
- (4) The Court of Appeals erred by not considering Supreme Court precedent that a Washington state court's due process review of a nationwide settlement in a foreign court that affected the rights of Washington citizens required consideration of whether subclasses had to be established when the settlement was approved.

As noted, the Commissioner found that the scope of due process review presented an "open" question with no clear answer under Washington law. This case is an illustration of a prevalent problem: this was a "sweetheart" nationwide settlement that was entered into only months after the case was brought by lawyers who were then paid over a million dollars in fees under the settlement while Washington class members get nothing. To protect Washington citizens in such instances, this Court should accept review and determine the proper scope of review

by Washington courts to ensure due process is afforded Washington citizens by foreign states' courts. In such circumstances, it is hardly intrusive for a Washington court to insist that a foreign state's court make an express finding that its citizen is in fact an adequate representative of Washington providers and that subclasses are not required under Supreme Court due process precedent.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should the Court adopt an additional standard for discretionary review beyond those set out in RAP 2.3 when there is an "open question" about a "significant question of law" that may affect a group of Washington citizens beyond the immediate parties?
- 2. Is the proper scope of review for a collateral attack asserting lack of due process in a sister state's class settlement approval process due to inadequate representation limited to whether the issue of inadequate representation was simply raised, litigated, and decided at all no matter how it was decided, or should review also include whether the manner in which the issue was resolved afforded Washington citizens due process?
- 3. Under the rule of law adopted by the Court of Appeals that limits collateral review to whether the issue of representation was raised at all, litigated, and decided, did the Court of Appeals err in reversing Judge Shaffer's finding that the Illinois trial court did *not* expressly "decide" that the Illinois plaintiff was an adequate representation of Washington citizens?
- 4. Did the Court of Appeals err in reversing Judge Shaffer's decision that Supreme Court precedent required that the Illinois trial court establish subclasses to protect the interests of Washington citizens in a nationwide settlement under which Washington citizens released their claims but got *nothing* under the settlement and the Illinois court's failure to do so deprived Washington citizens of due process by depriving them of adequate representation?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Chan and Lebanon Proceedings

On September 8, 2015, Chan filed this class action in King County Superior Court, alleging an unfair practice under the CPA. CP 1-31.

About one year prior to Chan filing suit against Liberty, Liberty and its subsidiary Safeco entered into a nationwide settlement in an Illinois state court with an Illinois chiropractor, Lebanon Chiropractic. In the October 2014 settlement, Lebanon tried to settle all claims of every health care provider in the nation for reductions made to their medical bills by Liberty or Safeco under any auto policy issued in any state for a period going back seven years and forward five years. CP 1456-1490.

The *Lebanon* case was settled on a nationwide basis four months after it was filed. Under the settlement, Liberty agreed to pay Lebanon and other citizens of Illinois 50% of the reductions made by Liberty and its wholly owned subsidiary, Safeco Insurance Company, to their PIP and medpay claims and Lebanon's attorneys were to be paid over \$1 million. Washington providers got *nothing* because of a prior settlement on Washington provider claims in the *Kerbs v. Safeco Ins. Co.* case.

In January 2015, Dr. David Kerbs, a Washington provider who was the plaintiff and class representative in a prior class settlement in Washington titled *Kerbs v. Safeco*, filed an objection in the Illinois state

court settlement proceedings. He asserted in part that the Illinois court lacked jurisdiction to certify a nationwide class, the Illinois plaintiff did not adequately represent Washington providers and had interests antagonistic to them. CP 4041-52. The Illinois trial court approved the settlement without addressing Dr. Kerbs' objections and made *no* factual findings that Lebanon was an adequate representative of Washington providers. The Illinois court simply added language to the *Lebanon* settlement agreement that the settlement would not be interpreted to conflict with the *Kerbs* agreement. CP 1648-1676.

Liberty admitted to the Washington Court of Appeals that the Illinois trial court did not make *express*, *specific findings* on the adequacy of representation *for Washington providers*; it simply overruled Dr. Kerbs' objection without analysis or findings.⁴ The Illinois trial court made no findings that the Illinois and Washington providers possessed the same legal claim, or that Illinois provider Lebanon was an adequate representative of *Washington* providers.

Kerbs appealed, and in February 2016, the Illinois Court of

Appeals affirmed the trial court's approval of the *Lebanon* settlement.⁵

⁴ See Brief of Appellants at 10 ("The court then expressly rejected Dr. Kerbs' objection by overruling all objections to the settlement and finding that the lead plaintiffs were adequate to represent all class members.")(emphasis added).

⁵ See Appendix to Brief of Appellants.

But the appeals court also failed to address the adequacy of representation of Washington providers under the due process clause or the significant differences in substantive law between the Washington and Illinois PIP statutes. As Liberty's counsel admitted during a hearing before the trial court in this case, it appears that the Illinois Court of Appeals did not address these issues because it believed that under Illinois law it did not matter. Instead, the appeals court concluded that a class action may be maintained under Illinois law *in the face* of conflicting state laws, and all that matters is that the settlement was fair, adequate and reasonable. App. at 359-361 (¶¶ 40, 48, 50). But this is a different question than whether Lebanon was an adequate representative of Washington providers under the due process clause.

On June 24, 2016, the Honorable Catherine Shaffer held in this case, in a detailed and well-reasoned decision, that the *Lebanon* release did not bar Chan's claims in Washington under the Washington CPA. The trial court emphasized that the Illinois court decisions lacked the specific factual findings regarding adequacy of representation under the due process clause as required in *Hesse v. Sprint*, 598 F.3d 581 (9th Cir. 2010), and that it was engaging in a "narrow" collateral procedural due process review under *Epstein v. MCA, Inc. (Epstein II)*, 179 F.3d 641 (9th Cir.

⁶ See April 15, 2016 RP at 88-89.

1999), Matsushita Elec. Industrial Co. v. Epstein, 516 U.S. 367 (1996), and Hesse. App. 78:7-19. The trial court made clear that this narrow review is limited to "assessing the adequacy of the procedural due process protections in the prior litigation." App. 78:7-19.

The trial court concluded that the legal claims of Washington and Illinois providers were materially different; that the Illinois trial court failed to analyze or account for these differences by, for example, creating subclasses; and that the *Lebanon* plaintiff did not adequately represent Washington providers and, therefore, the *Lebanon* settlement's release could not be applied to bar the claims of Washington providers. *See* CP 5243-44, 5248-49; RP (6/24/2016) at 186-201.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision

On December 11, 2017, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's decision and held that the *Lebanon* settlement in Illinois is entitled to full faith and credit in Washington and the *Lebanon* release bars Petitioner's claims in this case in Washington. This petition follows.

IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with U.S. Supreme Court precedent and other persuasive decisions of other Courts of Appeals. RAP 13.4 (b)(1 & (2). The decision also implicates issues of substantial public interest. Specifically, whether citizens of Washington can be denied the

opportunity to collaterally attack the release of claims entered into in a nationwide class action settlement by a sister court in which there was no subclass of Washington providers and no class representative who adequately represented the interests of Washington providers.

A. The Commissioner Departed from RAP 2.3

RAP 2.3 provides for limited discretionary review of trial court decisions in the middle of a case. One reason review is limited is to avoid piecemeal review and disruption of the orderly processing of a case.

In her ruling granting discretionary review, the Commissioner did not cite to or discuss any provision of RAP 2.3. Instead, she created a new and exceedingly broad standard for discretionary review in the middle of the case whenever there is an "open question" that involves a "significant legal question" that may affect a group of citizens of Washington beyond the parties to the litigation. The Commissioner ruled that under this standard "review is appropriate." October 25, 2016 Order at 1.

Because this standard is not found in RAP 2.3, Petitioner Chan moved to modify the Commissioner's ruling. But the motion was denied without analysis. By denying review, the Court of Appeals adopted the Commissioner's new expanded standard for discretionary review because no basis for review under RAP was stated. Since discretionary review was improperly granted, the Court of Appeals lacked jurisdiction to consider

and reverse Judge Shaffer's ruling and its opinion should be reversed.

B. The Court of Appeals adopted an improperly narrow standard for collateral attack of a class action settlement entered in a sister state

The Court of Appeals held that under full faith and credit principles, the proper scope of collateral review is whether the "same due process challenge was raised, litigated, and decided in the sister state." Op. at 1. If so, "Washington courts do not second guess the analysis and resolution by the trial and appellate courts in the sister state." *Id.*

Petitioners respectfully argue that the Court of Appeals adopted the wrong standard. The court primarily looked to factually and legally distinct Washington state cases involving an *individual* plaintiff who had previously fully litigated the same issue in a sister state and which addressed whether full faith and credit and res judicata would be accorded to a judgment from a sister state. *See In re Estate of Tolson*, 89 Wn.App. 21, 947 P.2d 1242 (1997); *OneWest Bank FSB v. Erickson*, 185 Wn2d. 43, 367 P.3d 1063 (2016).⁷

⁷ In *In re Estate of Tolson*, a decedent's son had been a party to a California case that fully litigated the issue of the decedent's domicile. He later collaterally attacked the domicile decision in Washington, and the Court of Appeals held that "principles of res judicata attach to the jurisdictional ruling and preclude relitigation...a judgment regarding domicile cannot be collaterally attacked...by one who was a party to the proceeding." 89 Wn.App. at 32 (emphasis added). In OneWest Bank, a decedent's daughter, who had been party to an action in Idaho that determined her father's domicile, collaterally challenged in Washington the Idaho court's foreclosure on her home, arguing that the Idaho court did not have jurisdiction to affect the Washington property. 185 Wn.2d at 1-2. The Supreme Court determined that the Idaho court did have jurisdiction

But these res judicata cases involving single plaintiffs have little applicability to situations, like the instant case, involving an out-of-state, absent plaintiff collaterally attacking a class action settlement entered by a sister court. The cases the Court of Appeals relied on do not involve an analysis of whether the class action settlement approved in a foreign state comported with due process, specifically whether absent class members were afforded notice of the action, an opportunity to opt-out, and adequately represented⁸. The cases did not discuss what the standard of review in that instance should be.

Instead, the Court of Appeals should have relied on *Nobl Park*, another Washington case, but one that involved a collateral attack on a class action settlement. Indeed, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that *Nobl Park* held that "a foreign state is *not required* to give full faith and credit to a judgment against an affected party *who did not receive due process* when the judgment was entered," Op. at 5 (citing *Nobl Park*, 122 Wn.App. at 845), but the Court of Appeals did not further address *Nobl Park*'s methodology. As the trial court pointed out in analyzing the due process issue, RP (6/24/16) at 189, the court in *Nobl Park did engage* in collateral review to determine whether notice was proper and the plaintiff

and full faith and credit applied. Id. at 26-27.

⁸ Nobl Park L.L.C. v. Shell Oil Co., 122 Wn. App. 838, 845, 95 P.3d 1265 (2004)(citing Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Shutts, 472 U.S. 797, 812, 105 S. Ct. 2965 (1985)).

was an adequate representative of absent class members. *Nobl Park* stands *for* a right to collateral review, and the *Nobl Park* court proceeded to conduct just such a review. *See Nobl Park*, 122 Wn.App. at 845-48.

The Court of Appeals also should have relied on persuasive authority from many circuit courts involving more similar fact scenarios collateral attacks on class actions settlements approved in a sister state. The trial court properly determined that Hesse v. Sprint, 598 F.3d 581 (9th Cir. 2010) is on all fours with this case and is "good law" on the issue of a federal due process inquiry on collateral attack. In Hesse, which involved a collateral attack of a Kansas state court settlement, the Ninth Circuit, like the Washington Court of Appeals in Nobl Park, made clear that the Full Faith and Credit clause is not without limit. Id. at 587 ("A State may not grant preclusive effect in its own courts to a constitutionally infirm judgment, and we are not required to accord full faith and credit to such a judgment") (internal cites omitted). Citing Epstein v. MCA, Inc. (Epstein II), 179 F.3d 641 (9th Cir. 1999), the Hesse court held that limited collateral review is appropriate in order to "consider whether the procedures in the prior litigation afforded the party against whom the earlier judgment is asserted a 'full and fair opportunity' to litigate the claim or issue." Hesse, 598 F.3d at 587. This limited collateral review includes "adequacy of representation." Id.

Notably, the Ninth Circuit in *Hesse* also clarified *when* collateral review is appropriate: the *Hesse* court held that when the foreign court made *specific and express* findings regarding adequacy of representation, such express findings should generally satisfy the forum state court on collateral review that due process was met. *Id.* at 588. But when the foreign state court did *not* make specific findings, the court should collaterally review the foreign court's judgment "to determine whether, in the absence of a specific finding by the [foreign] court, its judgment satisfies due process as to the claims at issue here." *Id.*.

The Second Circuit similarly held that collateral review is permissible where the court that approved the settlement did not address the adequacy of representation as to a specific subset of a class.

Stephenson v. Dow Chem. Co., 273 F.3d 249, 258 & n.6 (2d Cir. 2001)(citing Shutts, 472 U.S. at 805)"It is true that a court adjudicating a dispute may not be able to predetermine the res judicata effect of its own judgment.")").

The Fifth and Sixth Circuit have adopted an even broader standard, which recognizes that it is incumbent upon the collaterally reviewing court, not the certifying court, to determine whether the rights of absent class members were protected by due process, including adequacy of representation. In *Gonzales v. Cassidy*, 474 F.2d 67 (5th Cir. 1973), the

Fifth Circuit reasoned that:

To answer the question whether the class representative adequately represented the class ... requires a two-pronged inquiry: (1) Did the trial court in the first suit correctly determine, initially, that the representative would adequately represent the class? and (2) Does it appear, after the termination of the suit, that the class representative adequately protected the interest of the class? The first question involves us in a collateral review of the... [trial] court's determination to permit the suit to proceed as a class action with [the named plaintiff] as the representative, while the second involves a review of the class representative's conduct of the entire suit - an inquiry which is not required to be made by the trial court but which is appropriate in a collateral attack on the judgment.

Id. at 72. Similarly, in Gooch v. Life Investors Ins. Co. of Am. 672 F.3d 402 (6th Cir. 2012), the Sixth Circuit held:

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