FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/25/2018 1:10 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95416-0

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### CHAN HEALTHCARE GROUP, PS,

Petitioner,

v.

# LIBERTY MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, and LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondents.

#### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

John M. Silk, WSBA #15035 Wilson Smith Cochran Dickerson 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, WA 98164 (206) 623-4100 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Respondents Liberty Mutual Fire Insurance Company, and Liberty Mutual Insurance Company

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

#### C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

#### (1) <u>Chan Misstates the Law on RAP 2.3(b)</u>

Chan makes the baseless argument that the Court of Appeals Commissioner and Division I adopted an expansive interpretation of discretionary review. Pet. at 9-10. In addition to being a meritless contention, Chan failed to preserve the issue for this Court's attention.

First, while Chan filed a RAP 17.7 motion to modify the thoughtful Commissioner's discretionary review ruling (and the motion was properly denied by the Division I panel), Chan failed to seek review by this Court pursuant to RAP 13.5. Discretionary review, like venue, is a gateway issue requiring a party aggrieved by the Court of Appeals' decision on it to immediately seek discretionary review. *See Lincoln v. Transamerica Inv. Corp.*, 89 Wn.2d 571, 578, 573 P.2d 1316 (1978). Chan was not entitled to sit in the weeds after the Division I panel rendered its decision on discretionary review only to surface the issue at this late date. Chan effectively waived the issue.

Second, Division I correctly determined that discretionary review

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Even had the trial court purported to make "findings" on summary judgment, they are superfluous to this Court's *de novo* review of the trial court's orders and the legal question under the Full Faith and Credit Clause, and must be disregarded. *Hubbard v. Spokane Cty.*, 146 Wn.2d 699, 706 n.14, 50 P.3d 602 (2002).

was appropriate here.<sup>8</sup> The Commissioner correctly observed that the issue at stake here merited review, *see* appendix, as did the panel. Chan cannot point to a single case of this Court or the Court of Appeals suggesting that Division I erred. This issue does not merit review under any of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b).

#### (2) <u>Division I Correctly Concluded that the Full Faith and</u> <u>Credit Clause Mandates Dismissal of Chan's Action</u>

Chan has no real answer to the authority set out in Division I's opinion at 4-5 regarding the purpose of the Full Faith and Credit Clause. The Framers' clear-cut intent was that the Clause was to "put to rest" matters litigated in other states. Chan's purpose, on the other hand, is to frustrate that policy.

In the specific context of multistate class actions, settlements in such actions resolving large numbers of claims arising from identical factual predicates are routine and do not offend due process principles. *E.g.*, *Froeber v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, 193 P.3d 999 (Or. App. 2008) (affirming approval of multistate settlement of nearly identical claims as in *Lebanon* and here as against challenge that notice and class representation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Chan complains that the "commissioner made no findings under RAP 2.3 that would permit review." Pet. at 2. Not unlike its misrepresentations about Illinois courts' findings in *Lebanon*, RAP 2.3 nowhere mandates "findings" on discretionary review and, as this Court knows, Commissioners in all three Court of Appeals divisions and this Court, determine discretionary review in written rulings that usually do not include "findings." RAP 17.6(a).

were inadequate). Such settlements also serve federal, state and local interests in efficiently providing remedies to consumers without swamping multiple courts with identical litigation. In light of precedent focusing on identical factual predicates underlying multistate disputes rather than nuances in legal theories, the Court should carefully consider the implications of Chan's effort to impede the proper, constitutional, and efficient functioning of our federal system based on exaggerated contentions regarding minor issues that do not show a fundamental conflict of constitutional significance on the adequacy of representation.

> (a) <u>Chan Largely Ignores this Court's Controlling</u> <u>Authority Rejecting Chan's Ability to Raise Due</u> <u>Process Concerns About the Lebanon Settlement</u> <u>Rejected by the Illinois Courts</u><sup>9</sup>

Rather than apply *controlling* precedents of the United States Supreme Court and this Court on the Full Faith and Credit Clause, U.S. Const. art. IV, § 1,<sup>10</sup> Chan asks this Court to disregard such authorities and apply a Division II opinion and decisions of some federal circuit courts other than the Ninth Circuit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> On issues of federal law, such as the full faith and credit due judgments of sister states, this Court is bound only by decisions of the United States Supreme Court; decisions of the Ninth Circuit are only *persuasive authority*. *W.G. Clark Constr. Co. v. Pac. Nw. Regional Council of Carpenters*, 180 Wn.2d 54, 62, 322 P.3d 1207 (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Under full faith and credit principles, Washington courts must enforce judgments of sister states unless such judgments were entered by a court lacking jurisdiction or the entry of the judgment did not comport with federal due process principles. *Kremer v. Chem. Constr. Corp.*, 456 U.S. 461, 482-83, 102 S. Ct. 1883, 72 L. Ed. 2d 262, *rehearing denied*, 458 U.S. 1133 (1982).

This Court's controlling precedents and those of the United States Supreme Court make clear that Chan may not collaterally attack the Illinois courts' due process decision in *Lebanon*. Chan ignores those controlling precedents or simply misrepresents them. Where the Illinois courts addressed the very same due process challenges Chan now surfaces, made by a Washington provider represented by Chan's present counsel, that determination is binding as well.

For example, Chan largely fails to address this Court's decisions in *State v. Berry*, 141 Wn.2d 121, 5 P.3d 658 (2000) or *OneWest Bank, FSB v. Erickson*, 185 Wn.2d 43, 367 P.3d 1063 (2016),<sup>11</sup> relegating them in a footnote. Pet. at 10 n.9. *See also, Epstein v. MCA, Inc.*, 179 F.3d 641, 643 (9th Cir. 1999), *cert. denied*, 528 U.S. 1004 (1999) (Ninth Circuit rejects broad, merit-based collateral review of sister state's decision). *OneWest Bank* is particularly damaging to Chan's position. There, this Court specifically held that where the foreign state addressed a factor that would prevent the application of Full Faith and Credit to the foreign judgment (jurisdiction), a litigant could not collaterally attack the foreign judgment raising the same issue in Washington. It is *no different* for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Chan also ignores *In re Estate of Tolson*, 89 Wn. App. 21, 947 P.2d 1242 (1997), a key full faith and credit decision. The court there emphasized: "The Full Faith and Credit Clause provides a means for ending litigation by putting to rest matters previously decided between adverse parties in any state or territory of the United States." *Id.* at 29.

due process issues litigated in Illinois in *Lebanon* that Chan now seeks to raise, as Division I noted. Op. at 6-7. As Division I noted: "Consistent with *Tolson, OneWest Bank*, and *Epstein*, we hold Washington courts do not relitigate questions of due process previously *raised, litigated, and decided*, by a sister state court when approving a class settlement." Op. at 8 (Court's emphasis).

Moreover, Chan ignores the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. Ltd. v. Epstein*, 516 U.S. 367, 116 S. Ct. 873, 134 L. Ed. 2d 6 (1996), a case that confirms Chan's ability to collaterally attack the *Lebanon* judgment is severely limited. There, the United States Supreme Court made clear that full faith and credit must be afforded to a judgment entered by a state court in a class action settlement. The Court rejected an effort by a disgruntled class member to collaterally attack the state court judgment on the grounds that the state court did not have jurisdiction over an exclusively federal securities violation claim. The state court specifically concluded that it had the authority to resolve all claims, including federal securities claims. The Court determined under full faith and credit principles that federal courts were obliged to honor that determination.

Among all the Washington authorities, Chan cites only to Division II's opinion in *Nobl Park LLC of Vancouver v. Shell Oil Co.*, 122 Wn.

App. 838, 95 P.3d 1265 (2004), review denied, 154 Wn.2d 1027 (2005) in its petition at 11-12, only to misrepresent Division II's actual decision. The Nobl Park court recognized that "[a] state court's judgment in a class action is ... presumptively entitled to full faith and credit from the courts of other jurisdictions." Id. at 844 (emphasis added) (citing Matsushita, 516 U.S. at 374). To overcome this presumption of full faith and credit, Chan must show that it did not receive due process when the Illinois judgment was entered. Id. (citing Kremer, 456 U.S. at 482-83). The Nobl Park court addressed due process associated with a class action settlement in a full faith and credit case – the fact that the Illinois court rejected a Washington provider's challenge to the adequacy of representation that ends the inquiry: "a party's right to due process is protected by the court certifying a class action and the courts reviewing subsequent appeals in the state issuing the judgment in such action; it is not the obligation of the courts of another state to collaterally review due process challenges." (emphasis added). Id. at 845 n.3.<sup>12</sup> Division II held that the plaintiff was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Division II said that a party may not collaterally attack in Washington the rejection of a due process challenge in a sister state. *In the absence of an analysis of due process in the sister jurisdiction*, however, Division II indicated that a Washington court may then address the elements of due process discussed in *Nobl Park* at 845. There is no question that the Illinois courts addressed Dr. Kerbs' due process challenges to the *Lebanon* settlement that are identical to the due process challenges now posited by Chan. Chan's reading of *Nobl Park* as "supporting" its position represents a tortured misreading of Division II's opinion that this Court should reject.

barred from relitigating claims already resolved in a prior class action settlement from which that plaintiff did not "opt out" after receiving adequate notice.

Under *controlling* federal and Washington precedent, Chan was not entitled to collaterally attack the determination of the Illinois courts in *Lebanon* that due process rights of Washington providers were not violated by the settlement. Chan received adequate notice of the settlement and agreed to its benefits. Full faith and credit principles preclude Chan from relitigating the same issues that were the subject of the binding judgment in that case.

#### (b) <u>Chan Misstates the Persuasive Authority of Federal</u> <u>Circuit Courts Addressing the Issues Here</u>

To achieve its goal of avoiding the finality of the *Lebanon* class settlement as to its claims – or those of any Washington provider class members – Chan misstates that persuasive federal authority. Pet. at 12-16.

Largely Chan's whole argument that endless collateral attacks on foreign judgments in the class action setting are permissible is predicated upon its misreading of *Hesse v. Sprint*, 598 F.3d 581 (9th Cir. 2010), *cert. denied sub nom. Sprint Spectrum L.P. v. Hesse*, 562 U.S. 1003 (2010). That case was a collateral attack in federal court on a Kansas state court settlement. The Kansas litigation involved federal taxes that Sprint impermissibly passed on to consumers, when billing them for services. Id. at 585-86. The class settlement agreement only addressed Sprint's illicit billing of those federal taxes. Id. at 585 n.1. At no point in the litigation were state-imposed taxes ever litigated or even mentioned as part of the settlement agreement so that the ability of the class representative to adequately represent absent class members on such claims was never raised or adjudicated. Id. at 588. Later, a Washington plaintiff sued Sprint for impermissibly passing on Washington state's business and occupation tax in billings. Id. at 584-85. The Ninth Circuit rejected Sprint's attempt to argue that the Kansas judgment barred the Washington action. While courts should "normally satisfy [themselves] that party received the requisite notice, opportunity to be heard, and adequate representation by referencing the [settling] court's findings," id. at 588, only when the settling court makes no finding on those issues does the reviewing court analyze the issue anew. Id.

That is not true here. The Washington providers' CPA claims were *expressly* pled in *Lebanon*. As noted *supra*, the Illinois courts *expressly* rejected Dr. Kerbs' argument that these claims could not be released through that settlement based on adequacy-of-representation concerns. *Hesse* is inapposite.

Moreover, Chan vastly over-emphasizes the significance of Hesse

in light of the Ninth Circuit's pointed clarification of that decision in *Skilstaf, Inc. v. Caremark Corp.*, 669 F.3d 1005, 1024 (9th Cir. 2012) in which it rejected a California collateral attack on a Massachusetts class action by a class member who appeared at the fairness hearing and litigated objections to the settlement. *Skilstaf* applies here.<sup>13</sup>

As with other precedent unfavorable to its misreading of the Full Faith and Credit Clause, Chan ignores persuasive authority that undermines its position. The *Skilstaf* court cited *In re Diet Drugs*, 431 F.3d 141 (3d Cir. 2005), *cert. dismissed*, 548 U.S. 940 (2006) with approval, *id.* at 1024 n.13. There, the Third Circuit stated:<sup>14</sup> "Class members are not ... entitled to unlimited attacks on the class settlement. Once a court has decided that the due process protections did occur for a particular class member or *group of class members*, the issue may not be relitigated." 431 F.3d at 146 (emphasis added). *Accord, In re Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. Sales Practices Litigation*, 537 Fed. Appx. 106

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Notably, the *Skilstaf* court cited with approval *Reyn's Pasta Bella*, which rejects the argument that the judgment in the settlement forum must contain specific findings addressing every point dreamed up in a subsequent collateral attack. It is sufficient – and deference is due – if the issue (a) was raised in the approving forum and (b) the settlement could not have been approved without its resolution. 442 F.3d at 746 n.6. In such a case, the issue was actually litigated and necessarily determined. *Id.* Dr. Kerbs' specific objections to the adequacy of the class representative's representation of Washington class members were *rejected* by Illinois courts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> This passage mirrors the analysis of the *Nobl Park* court. 122 Wn. App. at 85 n.3.

(3d Cir. 2013).

Properly interpreted, persuasive federal precedent also requires the rejection of Chan's due process arguments that were litigated by Dr. Kerbs in Illinois, and rejected there, as Division I observed. Op. at 8 n.26. Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

(3) If the Court Reaches the Adequacy of Class Representation in *Lebanon*, Lebanon's Representation of the Class Was <u>Constitutionally-Proper</u>

Division I did not reach the issue of Lebanon's actual class representation. Op. at 13-14. Kerbs raised the issue and the Illinois courts in *Lebanon* expressly found class representation to be adequate. Op. at 10-13.<sup>15</sup>

Even were this Court to address the adequacy issue anew, Chan's argument fails. For Lebanon's representation of Washington provider class members in *Lebanon* to be inadequate, the remedies available in Washington and Illinois must be *fundamentally different*, so as to limit the incentive of the class representative to litigate the interests of the Washington class members. *Nobl Park*, 122 Wn. App. at 846 (recognizing that differences in the claims of class members, or even "minor conflicts," do not render representation inadequate; inadequate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Chan implies that the settlement was something of a sweetheart deal. Pet. at 3. That assertion, too, is false and is fully belied by the thorough assessment of the settlement by the Illinois trial and appellate courts in *Lebanon*. Those courts were fully capable of analyzing a settlement that paid \$6 million to the class.

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